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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE

at CHATTANOOGA
ROBERTS. WILSON, )
)
Petitioner, )
)
V. ) No. 1:11-cv-304
) Judge Curtis L. Collier
BRUCEWESTBROOKS, )
)
)

Respondent.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Acting pro se Robert S. Wilson (“Wilson” or “Pdtoner”), an inmate confined in the
Bledsoe County Correctional Complex, brings fiesition for a writ of habeas corpus, 28 U.S.C.
§ 2254, challenging the legality of hisrdinement under a 2003 Marion County, Tennessee
Circuit Court judgment, [Ct. File No. 1]. Aury convicted Wilson of attempted aggravated
sexual battery and rape of a child, and, for these offenses, he is serving an effective prison
sentence of twenty-seven years (as modifad,appeal, from thirty-one years). Warden Jim
Morrow has filed an answer to the petition, igéhis supported by cogs of the state court
record, [Ct. File Nos. 7and 13, Addenda 1-4]. Retdr has replied to thé&/arden’s answer, [Ct.
File No. 25], and thus the @ss ripe for disposition.

l. Procedural History

Wilson’s convictions were affirmed on diremppeal by the Tenness€ourt of Criminal

Appeals and the Tennessee Supreme Court declined any further resviate. v. WilsonNo.

M2004-00110-CCA-R3-CD, 2005 WL 29248#enn. Crim. App. Feb. 4, 2005erm. app. den
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(Tenn. 2005). Petitioner’s subsequent applicafar post- conviction deef was denied by the
state courts.Wilson v. StateNo. M2010-00764-CCA-R3-PQ011 WL 1672035 (Tenn. Crim.
App. May 3, 2011)perm. app.den(Tenn. 2011). There followed this timely habeas corpus
application.
Il. Background
The factual recitation is taken from th€TA’s opinion on direct appeal of Petitioner’s

convictions.

In 2000, Susan Audrey Condra, the mother of the minor
female victim, separated from her husband and, after a month,
began a romantic relationship with [Petitioner]. Within two
months, the [Petitioner] had moved into the residence that Ms.
Condra shared with her son, her mother, her stepfather, and the
victim, C.C. Approximately, fivemonths later, [Petitioner], Ms.
Condra, and the children moved intee residence of [Petitioner's]
mother, where they lived forparoximately two months. From
there, Ms. Condra moved with [Re&tner] and her children into a
room at Ridley's Motel. Ms. @dra and the children referred to
the residence at the motel ati€tone room shack.” The family
lived at the motel on two sep&aoccasions, the first time in
August and September of 2000 and the second from November of
2000 to February of 2001. Durinfge month of Omber 2000, the
family stayed at the residence of Ms. Condra's father. From “the
one room shack,” Ms. Condra, her children, and [Petitioner]
moved into “the big apartment,” which was located in a housing
project. In August of 2001, theictim and her brother were
removed from Ms. Condra's custody by the Department of
Children's Services. Later, Ms. Condra's parental rights were
terminated and at the time of trizhe children were living with a
foster family.

Ms. Condra testified that when she was dating [Petitioner],
she drank alcohol every day until she passed out. She stated that
[Petitioner] also drank heavily during their relationship. Ms.
Condra recalled that on one occasion in March or April of 2001,
while the family was living in “the big apartment,” she awoke in
the middle of the night and heard the victim scream, “No.” Ms.
Condra stated that when she looked into the bathroom, she saw the
victim facing [Petitioner] and “sitting up partly on the floor.”
[Petitioner] had his hand on the back of the victim's head. When
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she tried to open the door fulljPetitioner] prevented her from
doing so.

Ms. Condra also testified thain the victim's seventh
birthday, the victim was wearinghorts and a bathing suit. She
recalled leaving the residence parchase items fothe birthday
celebration and when she returned, she found that the victim's
bathing suit had been torn and that she was no longer wearing her
shorts.

The victim, C.C., who was bron June 9, 1994, testified
that on her seventh birthday, while the family was living in “the
big apartment,” [Petitioner] forceler to perform oral sex. C.C.
recalled that she was playing checkers with her older brother when
[Petitioner] directed her to the living room. According to C.C,,
[Petitioner], who was seated on tt@uch, ordered her to “suck his
thing,” which, she said, looked like “a worm.” C.C. recalled
another incident at “the big aparent” when [Petitioner] pulled
her into the bathroom and forcdwer to perform oral sex. She
remembered that her mother tried to open the bathroom door but
[Petitioner] “push[ed] on it to where she couldn't open it.” C.C.
testified that on a third occasion, when the family was living in
“the one room shack,” [Petitioner] “came to my bed and was
pulling on my feet and he made migck his thing.” She stated that
on each occasion, [Petitioner] ingtted her to “suck it like a
lollipop.”

C.C. also testified that while the family was living in “the
big apartment,” [Petitioner] had petrated her anally twice. She
stated that on the first occasidmer mother had gone to visit a
relative and “[Petitioner] told [J.C.] to go outside and do something
and ... [Petitioner] took me to myiom's room and he put it up my
butt.” C.C. recalled that on that occasion, she “had to use the
bathroom very bad and [Petitiahevouldn't let [her] go and when
he got finished the[re] was crap on it.” As to the second occasion,
C.C. remembered that she was playing checkers with her brother
when [Petitioner] called her into the living room, forced her to lean
over a chair, and then “put hisrlyiup my butt.” C.C. testified that
[Petitioner] penetrated her vaginally while they lived at “the big
apartment.” She stated that ast[ianer] was “[t]rying to put his
private up [her],” she was “trying to get [Petitioner] away from
[her] and [she] was kicking.”

[J.C.], the victim's older brber, corroborated the incident
that occurred on the victim's seventh birthday. He remembered
hearing [Petitioner] tell the victino “suck it.” He and the victim
had been playing checkers and when she did not return
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immediately, [J.C.] walked towd the living room and looked
through a hole in the quilt that tifi@mily used to divide the living
room from the rest of the apartment. He then saw [Petitioner]
seated on a chair with the viction her knees in front of him.
[J.C.] testified that both were nu@ad [Petitioner's] penis was in
the victim's mouth. He explainedathhe did not report the incident
to his mother because he was iafiaf [Petitioner], who had beaten
him on previous occasions.

Kathy Spada, a nurse practitioner at The Children's
Advocacy Center, performed a phyali examination of the victim
in October 2001. Ms. Spada testif that although the victim's
hymen was intact, such a finding did not necessarily mean that
there had been no vaginal penetrat She stated that there were
no fissures around the victim's rectaka and that the victim had
no loss of tone. During cross-examination, Ms. Spada
acknowledged that neither the wots vagina nor anus showed
visual signs of trauma sues scarring or healing wounds.

At the close of its proof, the [S]tate made an election of the
incidents upon which it was rehg for conviction. As to count
one, wherein [Petitioner] was charged with aggravated sexual
battery, the prosecution announceliarece on the incident of oral
sex that occurred in the bathrooai “the big apartment” as
described by the victim and her mother. As to count two, the state
chose to rely on the incident afral sex that occurred on the
victim's seventh birthday.

[Petitioner's] mother, Helen Wilson, testified on behalf of
the defense. Ms. Wilson recallecthPetitioner], Ms. Condra, and
the two children came to liveiilm her in Juneof 2000 because
they had nowhere else to go. Shstifeed that she asked them to
leave two months later becauske children were “on [her]
nerves.” Ms. Wilson rememberedathshe warned her son that “if
he didn't get away from that giand them two kids he was going
to end up in trouble.” According tls. Wilson, the victim and her
brother “loved [Petitioner] and he loved them.” She claimed that
the victim called [Petitioner] “d#dy” and that he often helped her
with her homework.

Kelly Butram, an employee of the Department of Children's
Services, testified that on Auguil, 2001, he received a call from
the police, who ngorted that [Petitioner] liabeaten the victim's
brother. He stated that althoudje did not interview the victim
with regard to her clais of sexual abuse, the allegations first came
to light during his investigation ahe August 31 incident. Butram,
who sat in on the interview alfie victim conducted by employees
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of the Children's Advocacy Centerstéied that the children were
removed from their mother as asudt of the beating and that her
parental rights were later terminated.

[Petitioner] testified that he began dating the victim's
mother in January of 2000 but thheéy did not start living together
until June of that same year. He sththat they first lived with his
mother, then with a friend of his, then at Ridley's Motel, then with
Ms. Condra's father, then againRitlley's Motel, and finally at a
housing project in South Pittsburg. According to [Petitioner], he
and Ms. Condra had a rocky relatstip but he chose not to leave
because of his concern for the dndn. [Petitioner] testified that
on the victim's seventh birthdayls. Condra took the victim to get
her ears pierced and the family had a cookout. He denied having
any sort of sexual contact with thietim on that or any other day.
[Petitioner], who claimed to be a father figure to the children,
admitted beating the victim's brotheith a belt, explaining that he
was “flustered.” He contended thidie victim's mother claimed to
have been sexually abused as ifdcdind often discussed the abuse
in front of the victim.

State v. Wilson2005 WL 292434, at *1 - 3.

On these facts, Petitioner was convictedttémpted aggravated sexual battery and child
rape, [Addendum 1, vol. 1, verdict form at 22-23].

[ll.  Standard of Review

Under the review standards set forth in the Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act
(AEDPA), codified in 28 U.S.C. § 224t seq, a court considering a habeas claim must defer to
any decision by a state court concerning tharclanless the state court’s judgment (1) “resulted
in a decision that was contraity, or involved an unreasonablepéication of, cledy established
Federal law, as determined Kye Supreme Court of the Unit&tates” or (2) “resulted in a
decision that was based on an unreasonable detgromrof the facts iight of the evidence
presented in the State court proaagd 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d)(1)-(2).

A state court’s decision is “contrary to” federal law when it arrives at a conclusion

opposite to that reached by thepBeme Court on a question of lawresolves a case differently



on a set of facts which cannot be distinguishederially from those upon which the precedent
was decided. Williams v. Tayloy 529 U.S. 362, 413 (2000). Under the “unreasonable
application” prong of 8 2254(d)(1the relevant inquiry is whether the state court decision
identifies the legal rule inpreme Court cases which governs iksue but unreanably applies
the principle to the padular facts of the caseld. at 407. The habeas coig to determine only
whether the state court’s decisi@objectively reasonable, not ater, in the habeas court’s
view, it is incorrect or wrongld. at 411.

This is a high standard to satispontgomery v. Bobhy654 F.3d 668, 676 (6th Cir.
2011) ( noting that “§ 2254(d), asnended by AEDPASs a purposefully demanding standard ...
‘because it was meant to be’™) (quotimtarrington v. Richter 131 S.Ct. 770, 786 (2011)).
Further, findings of fact which are sustainley the record are entitled to a presumption of
correctness—a presumption which may be reduttdy by clear and convincing evidence. 28
U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1).

IV.  Discussion

The § 2254 petition for habeas cospraises four main groundtsr relief: (1) insufficient
evidence to support the convass; (2) insufficient evidere to support the grand jury
indictment; (3) several instances of ineffectiwsiatance; and (4) the State’s bill of particulars
was misleading and hindered Petitioner’s rightslde process, a fair trial, and to mount a full
and fair defense.

In his answer, the Warden argues Wilson is ntitled to relief with regard to the state
court decisions rejecting the afas on the merits, given the defetial standards of review set
forth in 28 U.S.C. § 2254. In the alternativRespondent asserts Ground two and, perhaps,

Ground 4 are not cognizable federal claims infite¢ place. Finally, the Warden suggests one



sub-claim of ineffective assatce was not fully exhausted the state courts and is now
procedurally barred from habeas corpus eevi Respondent, therefore, argues the petition
should be denied in its entirety, as nah¢he asserted groda warrant relief.

Petitioner takes a contrary pibsn, maintaining, in his reply to the Warden’s answer,
deference is unwarranted since #tate court decisions on his oiaifail the tests in § 2254(d).
Wilson further maintains his claims are cognizdbelgeral claims as he has framed them, but he
does not address the State’s assertion of procdaaralith respect to counsel’s failure to cross-
examine the victim’s father.

The Court agrees with respondent Wardemcerning the appropteness of habeas
corpus relief and, for the reasons which follow, WENY the petition andISMISS this case.
Wilson’s grounds will be discussed in the order in which they were presented.

A. Insufficient Evidence [Pet., Ground One].

In his first claim, Petitioner maintains eviadenadduced at trial wasadequate to sustain
his convictions for attempted aggravated sexbattery and rape of a ith As support for his
claim, Wilson points to inconsistencies betweean statements of two wigsses (the victim and
her brother); to a lack gfhysical evidence of abuse; to a latkhe requisite dgree of proof on
the essential elements of each offense; andetdridd court’s refusal to enhance his sentence on
the “gratification” factor because the court vievtbd victim’s testimony as being too general to
support the sought enhancement.

1. The Law

The controlling rule for reolving a claim of insufficient evidence resideslatkson v.

Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979).See Gall v. Parker231 F.3d 265, 287-88 (6th Cir. 2000)

(Jacksonis the governing precedent for claims o$ufficient evidence.). There, the Supreme



Court held evidence, when viewedthe light most favorable tthe prosecution, is sufficient if
any rational trier of fact could have fourile essential elements of the crime beyond a
reasonable doubt.Id. at 319. Resolving conflicts ind#mony, weighing the evidence, and
drawing reasonable inferences froine facts are all matters which lie within the province of the
trier of fact. Id. at 319;Cavazos v. Smithl32 S.Ct. 2, 6, 181 L.Ed.2d 311 (2011) (Under
Jackson a habeas court presumes flact finder has resolvefdcts which support conflicting
inferences in favor of the State aihdhust defer to that resolution.)

A habeas court reviewing an insufficiestidence claim must apply two levels of
deference. Parker v. Renico506 F.3d 444, 448 (6th Cir. 2007). Undixckson,deference is
owed to the fact finder’'s verdict, “with explicieference to the substantive elements of the
criminal offense as defined by state lawlucker v. Palmer541 F.3d 652, 656 (6th Cir. 2008)
(quoting Jackson 443 U.S. at 324 n.16). Under AEDPA fetence is also oed to the state
court’s consideration of the trier-of-fact’'s verdic€Cavazos 132 S.Ct. at 6 (noting the double
deference owed “to state coudkcisions required by § 2254(d)ic “to the state court's already
deferential review”). Hence, a petitioner “bears a heavy burden” when insufficiency of the
evidence is claimedUnited States v. Vannersor86 F.2d 221, 225 (6th Cir. 1986).

2. Analysis

The TCCA began its discussion of Petitibeeclaim by defining the offenses of
conviction, starting with the statute on chilghea Citing to Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-522(a), the
TCCA stated: “Rape of a child is the unlawfukisal penetration of a victim by the defendant or
the defendant by a victim, is such victimless than thirteen (13) years of ag&Vilson, 2005
WL 292434, at *4. The TCCA defide'sexual penetration” as égual intercourse, cunnilingus,

fellatio, anal intercourse, or any other intrusion, however slight, of any part of a person's body or



of any object into the genital anal openings of the victim'she defendant's, or any other
person's body, but emission of semen is not requirédl.{quoting Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-
501(7)).

The state court then defined the second offense, i.e., attempted aggravated sexual battery,
as applicable in Petitioner’s case, as “unlavgtual contact with a victim by the defendant or
the defendant by a victim where [t]he victimléss than thirteen (13) years of age.”(quoting
Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-504(a) (4)).

Next the TCCA gave the somewhat lengthy definition of attempt, which follows:

(a) A person commits criminaltampt who, acting with the kind

of culpability otherwise requiretbr the offense:(1) Intentionally
engages in action or causes a result that would constitute an
offense if the circumstancesrsaunding the conduct were as the
person believes them to be;

(2) Acts with intent to cause esult that is an element of the
offense, and believes the condwell cause the result without
further conduct on the person's part; or

(3) Acts with intent to completa course of action or cause a result
that would constitute the flense, under the circumstances
surrounding the conduct as the person believes them to be, and the
conduct constitutes a substantial si@pard the commission of the
offense.

(b) Conduct does not constéu a substantial step under
subdivision (a) (3) unless the persoentire course of action is
corroborative of the interib commit the offense.

Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-12-101(a), (b).

Summarizing the proof which sustained tiéld rape conviction, the TCAA pointed to

evidence that the victim and her brother were ipayn another room when Petitioner called the

1 “Sexual contact includes the intention@liching of the victim's, the defendant'sintimate parts, or the intentional
touching of the clothing covering the immediate area of the victim's or the defend@imtateinparts, if that
intentional touching can be reasonably construed as li@irtbe purpose of sexual asal or gratification.” This
definition, which essentially tracks the one in Tenn. Cédm. § 39-13-501(6), was indaled in the trial court’s
instructions to the jury, [Addendum 1, vol. 5 at 413]. The TCAA omitted this definition in its opinion.
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victim into the living room, where he forced hemp@rform oral sex and irrsicted her to “suck it
like a lollipop.” The victim's brother corroborateds sister’'s testimony, lteng the jury he saw
the victim kneeling in front ofPetitioner, both nude, with petiher's penis in the victim's
mouth. The TCCA then iterated the evidencacisupported Petitioner’'s attempted aggravated
sexual battery conviction, whicimcluded the victim’stestimony that, while her mother and
brother slept, Petitioner pulled heto the bathroom and instructéér “to suck his thing.” She
recalled that her mother tried tpen the bathroom door buttener would not let her. The
victim's mother cowborated her testimony.

The TCCA recognized, where the sufficiencytloé evidence is challenged, the relevant
guestion is whether any rationaketr of fact, viewing the evidenaa the light most favorable to
the State, could have found all the essenteiehts of the offense beyond a reasonable doubit.
The TCCA cited taJacksonand, therefore, its decision was w©ontrary to the controlling legal
rule in Supreme Court caseSee Gall 231 F.3d at 287-88.

Noting the jury was free to accept or rejed thitnesses’ testimony, iwhole or in part,
and concluding the evidence detailed above, viewelde light most favorable to the State, was
sufficient to sustain Wilson’s child rape and atpted aggravated sexuadttery convictions, the
TCCA declined to give any relief.

In his reply, Wilson maintains severalconsistencies between the testimony of the
victim and her brother, such as what colothbay suit she was wearing on the day of the rape,
whether Petitioner was seated on a couch oveskat, and whether Rether was naked or not,
shows the evidence was not sufficient. Furthenatestrating the lack of sufficient evidence,
according to Wilson’s lights, was the tesbny of the nurse who performed a physical

examination of the victim andiw found an intact hymen and no fissures or loss of tone in the
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victim’s rectal area, presumably underscoringl#tek of any physical corroboration of the type
of sexual abuse described by the victim.

Petitioner additionally finds it suspect and an indication of insufficient proof that, while
the victim testified to multiple acts of sexudduse, the prosecution only charged two crimes.
This leads Wilson to concludie jury was confused andhus, could not determine which
elements to apply to which count. Finalthere were questions concerning the victim’s
motivation in alleging sexual abuse against Petitioner, which might have been prompted by a
claimed beating her brother sustained at the hands of Petitioner.

Whether to credit testimony offered by witnesses, how to resolve inconsistencies between
the testimony of witnesses, what inferenceany, to draw from the sémony—all are issues to
be determined by the fact finder, in this casés@i’s jury, and not by thiederal habeas Court.
Jackson443 U.S. at 319.

From the evidence outlinedbove, this Court concludgbe state court reasonably
determined the proof in Petitioner's case was constitutionally sufficient and now declines to
issue the writ because he has failed tmalestrate the state court’s applicationlatksorto the
facts of his case was unreasonable or decision based on amnreasonable factual
determination.

B. Insufficient Evidence and ProsecutoriaMisconduct before the Grand Jury, [Pet.,
Ground Two].

Here, Wilson asserts only one witness wasquesl to the grand jury, who testified as to
an alleged sexual abuse occugrion August 30, 2001. Yet, afteards the prosecutor signed
two bills of indictment alleging two counts congsigfiof aggravated sexual battery and rape of a
child. The indictments were nbased on actual proof and gh®secutor engaged in misconduct

thereby.
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In state court, Wilson claimed his due pregeights were violateldy the presentation to
the grand jury of the testimony of a witneslo possessed no first-hand knowledge Petitioner
had committed the crimes with which he was charged.

When presented with the above claim, theCRCruled the indictment was valid on its
face, and, thus, a reviest the quality of the evidence offer&althe grand jury was unwarranted.

It did not review the claim.

The Supreme Court has held that “indictmengtand jury is not pardf the due process
of law guaranteed to state criminalfeledants by the Fourteenth Amendmerranzburg v.
Hayes 408 U.S. 665, 688 n.25 (1972) (citiHgirtado v. California 110 U.S. 516 (1884)).

Petitioner’s claim regarding Tennessee grand jury proceedings does not raise a
cognizable constitutional claifn.

C. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel, [Pet., Ground Three].

Petitioner asserts he receivedffiective assistance from his attorney at trial with respect
to counsel’'s failures to invegate, interview, prepare ancfross-examine withesses and to
adequately convey the State’s plea offer. Wilgother maintains the cuntative effect of these
shortcomings was such as to deprive him ofdusstitutional right to effective assistance of
counsel.

1. The Law

The Sixth Amendment provides, in pertingrart, “[ijn all criminal prosecutions, the

accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have theshasce of Counsel for his defense.” U.S. Const.

amend. IV. A defendant has a Sixth Amendmegltrinot just to counsebut to “reasonably

2 Even where a federal defendant challenges federal grgnproceedings, as guaraetkto a criminal accused by

the Fifth Amendment, the Sixth Circuit has held the “validity of an indictment is not affected by the type of evidence
presented to the grand jury, even though thateemid may be incompetent, inadequate, or hearsaytéd States v.
Markey, 693 F.2d 594, 596 (6th Cir. 1982).
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effective assistance” of counselStrickland v. Washingtord66 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). In
Strickland the Supreme Court set forth a two-prongesd ter evaluating claims of ineffective

assistance of counsel:

First, the defendant must show that counsel’'s performance was
deficient. This requires shomg that counsel made errors so
serious that counsel was not functioning as the “counsel”
guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the
defendant must show that the defint performance prejudiced the
defense. This requires showingathcounsel's errors were so
serious as to deprive the defendanfta fair trial, a trial whose
result is reliable. Unless defendant makes both showings, it
cannot be said that the convarti. . . resulted from a break down

in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

In considering the first prong of the test set fort&inckland the appropriate measure of
attorney performance is “reasonablemeinder prevailing professional normSttickland 466
U.S. at 688. A defendant asserting a claim off@otive assistance of counsel must “identify the
acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable
professional judgment.Id. at 690. The evaluation of the ebjive reasonableness of counsel’s
performance must be made “fraraunsel’s perspective at the time of the alleged error and light
of all the circumstances, and the staddaf review is highly deferential. Kimmelman v.
Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 381 (1986). It is strongigesumed counsel’'s conduct was within the
wide range of reasonabpeofessional assistancgtrickland 466 U.S. at 689.

Second, a petitioner must demonstrate “a ressenprobability that, but for counsel's
unprofessional errors, thestdt of the proceedings would have been differeitdss v. United

States 323 F.3d 445, 454 (6th Cir. 2003) (quotidgickland 466 U.S. at 694). “A reasonable
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probability is a probability sufficiertb undermine confidence in the outcomkl’ at 454-455
(quoting Strickland,466 U.S. at 694). A petitioner mustndenstrate, due to counsel’s deficient
performance, there was a “breakdown in tdeeasary process thatn@ered the result of the
proceeding unreliable.”ld. (quoting Bell v. Cone 535 U.S. 685 (2002)). Counsel is
constitutionally ineffective oml if a performance below professional standards caused the
defendant to lose what he “otlhese would probably have wonUnited States v. Morron977
F.2d 222, 229 (6th Cir. 1992).

2. Analysis

When these claims of ineffective assistanceevearried to the TCCA, the state appellate
court cited among other cases Strickland and employed its two-pronged test in reviewing
Petitioner’s claims of ineffective assistance. Thts conclusion relative to those claims is not
contrary to the well-established legal rule Supreme Court cases governing these types of
claims. The question then becomes \wketthe state court's application 8fricklandto the
facts of Petitioner’s case was unreasonable.

Each of counsel’s alleged faifis will be addressed individually.

a. Failure to investigate, interview and prepare witnesses

As his first example of ineffective assiate, Petitioner pointo counsel’s failure
adequately to investigate and intervievo witnesses and one potential witness.

Strickland imposes upon an attorney “the obliga to investigate all withnesses who
may have information concerning his or her client's guilt or innocenRartionez v. Berghulis
490 F.3d 482, 487 (6th Cir. 2007) (quotihgwns v. Smith395 F.3d 251, 258 (6th Cir. 2005)).
An attorney must perform a reasonable invesitigaof witnesses and a failure in this regard,

where prejudice results, can cthge ineffective assistance.
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Petitioner’'s claims with respect to theseeth witnesses, two called to testify for the
prosecution and one uncalled by eittparty, are addressed in the order in which they were
presented.

i. Audrey Condra

Petitioner asserts, in his 2254 petition, that Ms. Condrdis ex-girlfriend and the
victim’'s mother, testified inconsistently with theworn testimony at a priguvenile hearing. At
trial, she testified as to “observing abuse,” veéaey; in the prior hearing, she testified “as to no
allegations of abuse,” [Ct. File No. 1, Pet. at%10].

In state court, Wilson contended counselethto attack Ms. @ndra’s credibility by
using undated letters she had written to himlg@h] while he was incarcerated, in which she
professed her love for him andsike to reconcile with himWilson 2011 WL 1672035, at *4
and *6. The “letters” lkegation was not contained in Wils@nfederal petition, but instead his
reply to the Warden’s answer, where the Wardédressed the “letters” issue, [Ct. File No. 25,
Petr's Reply at 26]. Aeply to a respondent’s answer to déas corpus application is not the
proper pleading in which to preseariguments in support of a claifBee Tyler v. Mitchel416
F.3d 500, 504 (6th Cir. 2005) (“Because the (tgrahase insufficiency argument was first
presented in [petitioner’s] traverse rather tivamis habeas petition, it was not properly before
the district court, and the distticourt did not err in decliningp address it.”). Nevertheless, the
Court will exercise its discretioend address the “letters” claim.

As recounted by the TCCA, counsel testifiatlthe post-conviction hearing, he “had a
pretty good idea of what [Ms. Condra] was goingestify to” and, rather than to use the undated

letters to impeach her credibility, elected tige the transcript fromher parental rights

% The prior juvenile hearing to which Petitionefiers was a parental rights termination heariwglson 2011 WL
1672035, at *8.
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termination hearing, even though he had notruteved her. The TCCA saw no basis for
finding ineffective assistance and affirmed the lower court’s determination.

According to the lower state court, cogh$iad used Ms. Condra’s previous sworn
testimony in juvenile court thashe did not see any sexuabntact going on teextract an
admission during her trial testimony that “shel Im@t known of, witnessed, or heard, any sexual
misconduct committed or done by [Petitioner] anal tho complaint was ever made to her nor
any action taken by her,” [Dodl3, Addendum 3, vol. 1, Order of Mar. 17, 2010 at 69].
Characterizing this line of cross-examinationaastrategic choice and one not to be “second
guessed,” the trial court determined no iaefive assistance had been establishdd, [

Stricklandinstructs that “strategic choices maalter thorough invegation of law and
facts relevant to plausie options are virtuallyinchallengeable.” Strickland 466 U.S at 690.
Wilson has not shown there was meastigation of this witnessghat any investigation was not
thorough; or that counsel’s strgte choice was not reasonabl8eeNichols v. Heidle725 F.3d
516, 543 (6th Cir. 2013)Vebb v. Mitche]l586 F.3d 383, 395 (6th KCi2009) (observing the
petitioner had failed to “overcoen'the strong presumption’ @h his trial counsel conducted a
reasonable investigation”) (citirgampbell v. Coyle260 F.3d 531, 553 (6th Cir. 2002)).

Here, Wilson did not overcome the stronggumption that counsel's claimed misstep
“might be consideredsound trial strategy. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. And given Ms.
Condra’s acknowledgement during her trial testimtirat, in keeping with her testimony at the
earlier proceedings, she had not observed &egitisexually abusing her daughter, there was no
prejudice. And, even if the a@l transcript of th@arental rights termation hearing was not
entered into evidence to assist the jury in mgla credibility determigtion, as Wilson suggests

counsel should have done, [Ct. File No. 25r'BdReply at 18], this does not mean counsel did
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not make a reasonable strategicigien as to the best method to use in cross-examining this
witness

The Court finds relief unwarranted here because the TCCA's rejection of Petitioner’s
claim of ineffective assistance wagt an unreasonable application ¢fickland and because the
state court did not unreasonably determine the facts placed befor&eae Debruce v.
Commissioner, Alabama Dept. of Correctipii88 F.3d 1263, 1269 (11th Cir. 2014) (The state
court did not unreasaily decide, undefStrickland, that counsel did nogive ineffective
assistance by failing to cross-examine a vasneith a transcriptf his interrogation.).

No writ will issue on this sub-claim of ineffective assistance.

ii. Carla Newman

In his second claim in this category, VWitsalleges counsel failed to investigate Carla
Newman, the victim’s aunt, whajong with her husband, had theyad to send the victim and
her brother from her home into foster carethiéy did not fabricate a story of abuse against
Petitioner. Ms. Newman didbot testify at trial.

The TCCA, in addressing this issue, fouPetitioner had not presented her testimony at
the post-conviction hearing andetieby, had failed to show afaéent performance on the part
of his trial attorney.Even here, Wilson has not explainedawiwvould have been revealed as a
result of an investigation dfls. Newman or an interviewith her; how her testimony would
have been helpful to the defense; or even whestte would have been aladle as a witness.

These omissions are fatal to his claimchuse, absent these details concerning Ms.
Newman'’s testimony, there is naily to show either a deficieperformance or any prejudice
accruing from counsel’s failure to present such testim@sge Tinsley v. Million399 F.3d 796,

810 (6th Cir. 2005) (affirming denialf an ineffective assistancim based on counsel’s failure
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to call withesses where a petitioner did nattfoduce[] affidavits orany other evidence
establishing what they would have said”).

In denying Wilson relief on his clainthe TCCA did not unreasonably ap@yrickland
nor unreasonably determine the facts placed befor@herefore, this Court concludes habeas
relief is not warranted with respectthis alleged attorney shortcoming.

iii. Nurse Kathy Spada

Petitioner faults his attorney for failing to establish Nurse Kathy Spada made inconsistent
statements. More specifically, Wilson asserts Bi8pada ruled out in her reports any evidence
of physical abuse yet, at trial, testified she dowubt rule out vaginal or oral penetration of the
victim.

The TCCA noted trial counsstated, at the post-convictidrearing, he could not recall
whether he conducted a telephontemew with Ms. Spada in prapation for trial, but knew he
had reviewed her report, which was favoratbehis client. The ngort was favorable, in
counsel’s opinion, because “Ms. Spada did nud finy evidence of vagihar anal penetration
when she examined the victimWilson 2011 WL 1672035, at *9. THECCA denied relief on
the issue because it agreeidh the post-conviction court th&etitioner had failed to show a
deficient performance on the part of couriséd.

Although a failure properly toross-examine a witness could form the basis for a finding
of ineffective assistancdackson v. Hoyke87 F.3d 723, 742-43 (6th Cir. 2012), such decisions
typically are not subject to seed guessing and are entitled todgresumed sound trial strategy.
SeeUnited States v. Friedmarl993 WL 386797, *3 (6th CirSept. 30, 1993) (“[T]actical

decisions must be particularly egregious befitiey will provide a basi for relief.”) (citing

* The Court can find no ruling on the claim in the post-conviction court’s order, declining to grant petitioner post-
conviction relief, [Doc. 13, Addendum 3, vol. 1, Order of Mar. 17, 2010 at 64-70].
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Martin v. Rose 744 F.2d 1245, 1249 (6th Cir. 19843ge also Blackmon v. Whit825 F.2d

1263, 1265 (8th Cir. 1987) (“[T]he courts must s¢$he temptation to second-guess a lawyer's

trial strategy; the lawyer makes choices based on the law as it appears at the time, the facts as
disclosed in the proceedings to that point, and his best judgment as to the attitudes and
sympathies of judge and jury.”).

The transcript of the trial shows Wilson&torney thoroughly cross-examined Nurse
Spada regarding the findings contained in thmoreand left no stone untugd in his effort to
undermine her testimony concerning her inabilityute out vaginal or @ penetration of the
victim, [Doc. 13, Addendum 1, vols. 3-4 at 1294]. Wilson does not suggest anything more
counsel could have done than hewith respect to this witness.

Given the “doubly deferential” review of &trickland claim under § 2254(d)(1)see
Knowles v. Mirzayangé56 U.S. 111, 123, 129 S.Ct. 1411, 142000), as well as the difficulty
encountered by a petitioner in challenging counsel's tactical decisions, the Court finds relief
unwarranted here because the TCCA'’s rejeatiowilson’s claim of ineffective assistance was
not an unreasonable applicationSificklandand because the state court did not unreasonably
determine the facts placed before it.

b. Failure to cross-examine witnesses

Counsel’s failure, as alleged in this catggof ineffective assisince claims, was his
inadequate cross-examinations of three witreesdbe victim, her brother, and her father.

I. The victim

Wilson maintains the victim had made priallegations of sexual abuse against her
biological father and had gained knowledge aayning “sexual terms” from her mother, [Ct.

File No. 1, Pet. at 10]. Moreoveagccording to Petitioner, the victim had made statements to the
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forensic interviewer, which were contradictoryhter trial testimony. Further, Wilson seemingly
maintains the victim and her brother fabricated the allegations of sexual abuse. All of these
issues might have been used to impeach thenvs credibility, but were not used for this
purpose.
When this claim was offered to the TCCA, it stated:

The victim was nine years old aettime of the trial. Trial Counsel

testified that it was his trial strategy to engage the victim in a

conversational style of cross-exaation, rather than blatantly

accuse her of lying. In particulairial Counsel recalled that he

was trying not to cause the victito cry in front of the jury.

Although he knew that the victim had also made accusations of

sexual abuse against her fathé&rjal Counsel decided not to

guestion the victim about her prior allegations because doing so

would open the door to allow thea® to question the victim about

other statements included in the forensic interviewer's report. Trial

Counsel was especially worriedalh the introduction of one part

of the report, in which the victim compared the penises of the

Petitioner and her father.
Wilson 2011 WL 1672034, at *9. The TCCA theointed to the post-conviction court’s
characterization of counsel’s alleged failings“adactical decision not to delve into the prior
allegations of abuse of the vitt by her biological fatheritng well-founded concerns that the
jury could draw negative conclasis from such an approachfd. The TCCA denied relief
based orStricklands instruction to reviewig courts to refrain fronrsecond guessing counsel's
reasonable trial tactickd.

The TCCA did not unreasonable ap@yricklandby rejecting this claim of ineffective

assistance. Counsel’'s decision as to how bestonduct the victim's cross-examination is
presumed to be a tactical decision to which @usirt must defer. “Decisions about ‘whether to

engage in cross-examination, and if so to wddent and in what manneare ... strategic in

nature’ and generally Winot support an inefidive assistance claimDunham v. Travis313
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F.3d 724, 732 (2d Cir. 2002) (quotitinited States v. NersesiaB24 F.2d 1294, 1321 (2d Cir.
1987)).

Nothing Petitioner has presented overcomesgtesumption and, as a result, he has not
shown the TCCA'’s adjudication of his claimesulted in an unreasonable application of
Stricklandor was based on unreasonable factual détetrons. Thus, habeas relief cannot be
granted on this claim.

. The victim’s brother

In this claim, counsel is said to have given ineffective assistance by failing to cross-
examine the victim’s brothembout receiving a “whipping” ém Petitioner and about having
been manipulated by his aunt to fabricate f#exual abuse allegations. The impetus for the
fabrication, according to Wilson, was the auntfseats to send himnd his sister to an
orphanage.

Wilson’s contentions about using his aunt’e@éd threats to impeach the credibility of
the victim’s brother were not raised in his postiviction brief in the TCA, [Ct. File No. 13,
Addendum 4, Doc. 1, Petr’s Br.]nd, thus, have not been exhaust&bse v. Lundy455 U.S.
509 (1982) (finding federal claimsiust be completely exhaas by being fully and fairly
offered to the state courts before seeking fddembeas corpus relief). They, however, have
been technically exhausted, since no remainiatg stourt remedies areabhable to Petitioner,
due to the post-conviction statute of limitations, as well as the State’s one-petitiGeedlenn.
Code Ann. 8§ 40-30-102(a) and (c), andytlare now procedurally barred.

This means Wilson can only obtain habeas eemelief upon a showing of cause for his

failure to raise the issue in the TCGAd prejudice flowing therefromColeman v. Thompson
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501 U.S. 722, 732 (1991). Petitioner has not shaw even alleged, cause and prejudice to
surmount the default, and he thereby has forfééddral habeas corpus review of this claim.

As to Wilson’s contentions regarding his Higping” of the victim’s brother as the
impetus for the allegations of sexual abuse, seladdressed this issat the post-conviction
evidentiary hearing, according to the TCCA’sropn. He stated he was aware of one possible
defense surrounding the whipping, which hacklitorompted another indictment against
Petitioner for aggravat assault.

Determining that answers given during cregsimination of the victim and her brother
had not lent any support to this theory of defs the post-conviction court, as noted by the
TCCA, had found that counsel, nonetheless, was able to elicit from a Department of Children’s
Services witness “that the allegations were magl@inst the [Petitionegnly after the agency
became involved following the whipping” and “thaad it was only then that the children told
about the sexual abuse allegas against the PetitioneMilson 2011 WL 1672034, at *10.

The post-conviction court cleaterized counsel's deasi as strategic since he
emphasized, in his closing, the d&fncies in the testimony ofeahvictim and her brother, the
time frame of the interviews, the lack of physiealdence, and the statethoice at election as
to which counts on which to proceed, and chieseto highlight any association between the
timing of the “whipping” and the allegations séxual abuse. As did the post-conviction court,
the TCCA found Petitioner had failed to show a deficient performance.

As noted, an attorney’s stegic choices made afteraitoughly investigating law and
facts pertinent to plausible optiotere virtually unchallengeable.”Strickland,466 U.S. at 690.
The record supports that counsel investigatedsthee, as revealed in his testimony that he knew

about the “whipping,” discussed timaplications of the “whippingiwith Petitioner,but chose to
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undermine the credibility othe testimony of the victim's brother by focusing on other
weaknesses in the prosecution’s case.

Given the AEDPA “demands that state-cowgtidions be given the benefit of the doubt,”
Renico v. Lett599 U.S. 766, 130 S. Ct. 1855, 1862 (201@ntfons omitted), and in view of
the onerous standard which must be met &vaut on an ineffective assistance claim under the
AEDPA, Harrington v. Richter 131 S.Ct. 770, 788 (2011), the Cofinds relief is unwarranted
here because the TCCA's rejection of Petitioner’'s claim was not an unreasonable application of
Strickland and because the state court did noteasonably determine the facts which were
placed before it.

iii. The victim’s biological father

Petitioner alleges, in his reply, though nothis 8§ 2254 petition, counsel gave him
ineffective assistance Wwiling to cross-examine George Condifge victim’s biological father,
[Ct. File No. 25, Petr’'s Reply at 2]. As th@@t has observed, a claim alleged for the first time
in a reply is not properly before the CouBee Tyler416 F.3d at 504. Though the Court could
decline to address the claim, the Court will exercise its discretion to entertain it. Entertaining
the claim will not help Petitioner, however, because the claim is subjagirocedural bar.

Wilson’s contentions concerning counselfailure to cross-examine the victim’s
biological father were not rad in his post-conviction brigh the TCCA, [Ct. File No. 13,
Addendum 4, Doc. 1, Petr’'s Br.], and, thus, havehsan totally exhausted. Yet, given the lack
of any remaining state court remedissgTenn. Code Ann. § 40-30-1@0 and (c), they have
been technically exhausted, but procedurally defaulted. Thig Gduentertain the allegations
if Wilson shows both cauge excuse his defaulind resulting prejudiceColeman 501 U.S. at

732.
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No such showing has been made, fattkral review has been forfeited.
c. Failure adequately to convey plea offer
In his next to last claim of ineffectivassistance, Wilson maintains counsel failed to

convey the 12-year plea deal offered by the grog8on and to explain ¢éhrelevant facts which
would have allowed him to make an informadd knowledgeable decision as to whether to
accept or reject the offer. Wilson asserts couméetmed him of the offer five minutes prior to
trial but did not explain the merits or drawbacks of the offer, nor inform Petitioner the victim’s
mother had changed her testimony from that wisiol gave at an earlier proceeding, when she
stated she did not observe Petigr abusing her daughter. Furthere, counsel did not explain
he would not question the victim’s biological father concernimgvibtim’s priorallegations nor
tell him the State might decide to proceed onalegations of oral sexual abuse alone, even if
the evidence did not spprt allegations of vagihar anal penetration.

As held inMissouri v. Frye 132 S.Ct. 1399 (2012), a “defense counsel has the duty to
communicate formal offers from the prosecuttonaccept a plea on terms and conditions that
may be favorable to the accusettl” at 1408. The only detail @gon provides about the plea
offer is it involved a 12-year pos sentence, so the Court lacks the information to determine
whether the plea contained terms and conditions favorable to Petitioner which counsel would
have needed to discuss with blgent to avoid providig ineffective assiahce. Also, Petitioner
does not allege he suffered any prejudice.

Still, the Court liberally construes the instant claim as being the same as the one Wilson

offered to the TCCA. In itdiscussion, the TCCA stated:

Trial Counsel did not remember tHetails of any plea offers made
by the State in the Petitioner's cabmwever, he stated that his
normal practice is to summarizepected testimony during one of
his initial meetings with his @Ents and that he discusses the
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elements of the offense and range of punishment when he informs
his clients of a plea offer. dditionally, we note that the post-
conviction court credited Trial @insel's testimony and found that
Trial Counsel discussed the resutif his investigation with the
Petitioner prior to the trial.

In his brief, the Petitioner std that, during the post-conviction
hearing, he specifically stated[dl] he would have accepted the
State's plea offer had trial coungadlormed him that [Ms.] Condra
would testify against him, thallurse Spada's testimony did not
refute the allegations, and thaetlstate could elect to prosecute
Petitioner on oral penetration akan However, the Petitioner does
not provide citations téhe record to suppoltis assertion that he
testified he would have acceptec tBtate's plea offer had Trial
Counsel informed him of these tlgm Moreover, our review of the
record does not reveal the Petitioner provided such testimony.
When asked whether he would have accepted the plea offer if he
knew the State could elect only aflegation of oral sex, the
Petitioner replied, “It would havenade me think.” Additionally,

the Petitioner acknowledged that he did not base his decision to
reject the plea offer on Ms. Cor testimony, but rather on the
facts that he was innocent and that did not think he would be
found guilty.

In its order denying relief, the post-conviction court found as
follows:

It was apparent from the proof and testimony that the [Petitioner]
had no intention of accepting aepl agreement and thought that he
would not be found guilty. The [Petitioner] never indicated to his
attorney that he had reconsidered the [S]tate's plea offer and
decided to accept the offer. The [Petitioner] indicated at the post

conviction proceeding he might have accepted the plea offer, ... if
he had known how it would turn out....

Wilson 2011 WL 1672035, at *10-11. €hTCCA went on to conclude Petitioner had not

established a deficient performance with respettieadiscussion of a potential plea agreement.
UnderHill v. Lockhart 474 U.S. 52 (1985), inkefictive assistance clainis the context of

a guilty plea are governed by tB¢ricklands test. Frye, 132 S. Ct. at 1405 (citingill at 57).

Under that test, “the reasonableness of counsedifenged conduct” must be evaluated “on the
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facts of the particulacase, viewed as of the time of counsel's cond8titkland,466 U.S. at
690.

In this case, though counsel could not recadl details of any plea offers made to his
client, the post-conviction court credited couissétstimony and found, pursuant to his usual
practice, when plea deadse in the offing, he had discussed tiesults of his investigation with
Petitioner, including the expectéelstimony of witnesses, elemerifsthe offense, and range of
punishment when he informs a client of a plea offer.

“Credibility determinabns are factual determinations” and “[a]s sugldecision based
on a credibility determation ‘will not be overturned ofiactual grounds unless objectively
unreasonable in light of the evidence prded in the state court proceedinil&rzbacher v.
Shearin 706 F.3d 356, 367 (4th Cir. 2013) (quotiktijler-El v. Cockrell 537 U.S. 322, 340
(2003)). Petitioner points to nothing specific to show any unreasonableness about the post-
conviction court’s factual determinatiomadthis Court must accept those findings.

Given counsel’'s accredited adei to Petitioner, the statcourt did not unreasonably
apply Stricklandin determining counsel did not render a deficient performance in this respect.
See Frye 132 S. Ct. at 1408 (pointing to the AB recommendation that defense counsel
“promptly communicate and explain to the defemdall plea offersmade by the prosecuting
attorney”). Nor did the TCCAInreasonably determine the facts pthbefore it in disposing of
Wilson’s claim.

d. Cumulative effect of counsel’s errors

The TCCA rejected Wilson'’s final claim, in which he maintained the cumulative effect of
each of counsel’s errors denieitn effective assistance of counsel. The TCCA did so because it

found no attorney errors which it could acauate to reach this conclusion.
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Wilson has not cited to a Supreme Court case which demonstrates the TCCA’s
conclusion was an unreasonable applicatiostatkland and indeed, the Court is unaware of
one. No relief is warranteoh this claim either.

D. Misleading bill of particulars, [Pet., Ground Four].

In his final claim in the p@ion, Wilson asserts the presution furnished him with a
misleading bill of particulars antthereby denied him his rights to dpeocess, to a fair trial, and
to present a defense. More speaeifly, he maintains that, after lveas indicted for one count of
rape of a child and one couat aggravated sexual battery, iaim allegedly occurred between
January 1, 1999 and August 31, 2001, the State prowidedvith a bill of particulars, pursuant
to Wilson’s request.

However, the bill of particulars was nspecific enough to allow him to prepare his
defense, even though the prosecution knew orexifsp date (the viem’'s 7th birthday).
Moreover, the answer to Wds's question, “What type ofexual contact?” were “oral
penetration,” and the answer lis question, “What type of seal penetration?” was “sexual
contact,” [Ct. File No. 1, Pet. at 14]. Additionally, the prosecution waited until 15 days prior to
trial before supplying Petitionerithn the bill of particulars.

And though the State knew, at thate date, it would notegk a conviction on any event
which occurred prior to Marclor April of 2001, it did not naow the date range of the
indictment. The prosecutionkBwise knew it would rely on orglenetration to establish the
child rape charge, which, due to the lack oy ahysical evidence to confirm vaginal or anal
penetration, would leave Petitier to engage in a swearing match with the victim to defend

himself against the charge.
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Wilson contends state law requires theosmcution to disclose specific, detailed
information it has when child sexual abuse chage involved and to provide candid responses
in a bill of particulars. Wilson complains the &tatimprecise and vague responses in the bill of
particulars constitute prosecutorial misconduct and impaired his right to present a defense.

Claiming the state court’'s adjudication ofshtlaim was contrary to or involved an
unreasonable application of cleadgtablished law and, moreovesas based on an unreasonable
determination of the facts, he asks @wmurt to grant him habeas corpus relief.

Respondent Warden, not surpnigiy, asserts the TCCA’s apon with respect to this
final claim was none of the things Petitioner siggget was, meaning he is not entitled to the
writ.

In his direct appeal, Petitioner offered this claim as an illustration of prosecutorial
misconduct based on an insufficient and misleadifigpbparticulars. Citing to state law, the
TCCA explained a bill of padulars serves to inform a fémdant of the circumstances
surrounding the charge, so as to enable himdpare his defense, avoid prejudicial surprise at
trial, and preserve a plea of doelptopardy, though the state courttaaned a bill of particulars
is not a discovery devise. However, becaoks¢he unique character of a sexual abuse case
involving a child, when a minovictim—and, hence, the presution—is unable to supply a
precise date on which the offensllegedly occurred, the possilyi exists that descriptive
information may be made available which will navrthe time-frame of the indictment, even if
specific dates cannot be furnisheRlelief may be had if it can Ishown that the lack of specific
details has hindered the defense.

The TCCA then described Wilson’s requestsndbrmation to be furnished in a bill of

particulars and the State’s responses thus:
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Here, the indictment charged [pEner] with aggravated sexual
battery and rape of a child thad¢curred “between January 1, 1999
and August 30, 2001.” In his motiolor a bill of particulars,
[petitioner] asked the state to identify the exact location of each
offense, the time of day or nighthe identity of any persons who
were residing at or visiting thelewant location, the specific nature

of the sexual contact alleged, the date of the first report of the
offenses, the nature of any physiealdence, the age of the victim

at the time of the offenses, and the circumstances whereby the
defendant had the opportunity to commit the offenses. In its
response, the state provided tloeations of the offenses, the
nature of the offenses (oral perion), all parties residing in each

of the relevant locains, the time frame of the occurrences
(between August 1999 and AuguX01), and the circumstances
under which [petitioner] had the opportunity to commit the crimes.

State v. Wilson2005 WL 292434, *6 (Tenn. Crim. App. Feb. 4, 2005).

Addressing Wilson’s contention that the State, though aware offtirengttion, failed to
disclose, in the bill of particulars, that one incident had occurred on the victim’'s seventh
birthday, the TCCA found, while ¢hinformation had not been disséa in the bill of particulars,
the record showed Petitioneas given information prior to triéthat one incident of oral sex had
occurred on the victim's birthday. The TCJArther found Wilsonhad not shown how his
defense was hampered by the absefdkis information in the bilbf particularsand it declined
to grant relief.

To the extent this claim is based on state avg, not a cognizable claim, since a federal
habeas court does not sit “to reexamine statet determinations ostate-law questions.”
Estelle v. McGuire 502 U.S. 62, 68 (1991). As one sistlistrict court, has noted: “An
evidentiary rule, such as the adequacy of a bifparticulars, is a question of state law and not
cognizable in a habeas proceeding€ar v. Poole 711 F.Supp.2d 288, 297 n.1 (W.D.N.Y.
2010). “[I]it is only noncompliance with feddrtaw that renders a State's criminal judgment
susceptible to collateral attack in the federal counSilson v. Corcoran131 S.Ct. 13, 16

(2010). Petitioner’s “contention that the Statelmsiation, while consistent with the indictment,
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deviated from its bill of particulars, does not present a federal cl@m@uUglielmo v. Smith366
F.3d 130, 136 (2d Cir. 2004).

Even so, the Constitution requires that, welat method a state selects to charge a
criminal offense, the accused must reee€notice of the sgcific charge.” Cole v. Arkansgs333
U.S. 196, 201 (1948) (holding that “notice of the specific charge ... [iS] among the constitutional
rights of every accused in a criminal prodieg in all courts, state or federal'fRichmond v.
Perini, 1985 WL 13707, *2 (6th Cir. Sept. 13, 198%ting “any due pragss violation” in
connection with bill-of-particulars claim “would ha to be premised oadk of sufficient notice
of the charges against defendant”).

And, the notice must be adequate so asnable the criminal accused to formulate a
defense to the charg&oontz v. Glossar31 F.2d 365, 369 {6 Cir. 1984. See also Russell v.
United States369 U.S. 749, 763-64 (1962) (finding adequatéice of the charges to be one of
three specificity requirements in a charging nmstent). Describing the offense “with some
precision and certainty . . . as will enable a presumptively innocent man to prepare for trial” will
satisfy the constitutional requirement of fair notickoontz 731 F.2d at 369. However, “an
indictment which fairly but imperfectly informsehaccused of the offense for which he is to be
tried does not give rise to a constitutional issue cognizable on habeas cdfmasv. Marshall
806 F.2d 636 (6th Cir 1986).

Applying the Russellcriteria for evaluating the spediiy of a charging document, the
Sixth Circuit has pointed out presutors should be as specific @assible in setting forth the
dates and times of abuse offenses, but hasretsmnized the constitutional notice requirement
will tolerate fairly large time frames given “threality of situations where young child victims

are involved,” since those victims may be bieato remember exact dates and timéalentine
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v. Konteh 395 F.3d 626, 632 (6th Cir. 20050n the other hand, where “[t]he indictment, the
bill of particulars, and evethe evidence at trial fail[s] to apprise the defendant of what
occurrences formed the bases of the criminatgds he face[s],” the constitutional mandate of
fair notice is violated.Id. at 634. Also, the constitutional rigtd fair notice is violated by the
lack of a distinctive factual basis supporting eaolint, such as the time-frame, the type of
sexual action, or the location or time of daytbé alleged offense—information which will
enable a criminal accused to difatiate between the countsdadefend against each individual
charge.ld. at 633-34.

Even though the TCCA did not cite to thbove Supreme Court cases which govern the
notice requirements, it was not required to do sentitle its adjudication to the deference owed
to state court decisions in 8 2254(dyeesh v. Bagley612 F.3d 424, 429 (6th Cir. 2010)
(observing that [t]he state court decision neetlaite Supreme Court cases, or even evince an
awareness of Supreme Court caseslong as neither the reasonimgr the result of the state-
court decision contradicts them”) (citatioasd internal quotation marks omitted).

"A state court's determination that a clameks merit precludes fexdd habeas relief so
long as ‘fairminded jurists could disagree' oe ttorrectness of the state court's decision.”
Harrington, 131 S. Ct. 770 at 786 (quotin@rborough v. Alvaraddb41 U.S. 652, 664 (2004));
Peak v. Wehl673 F.3d 465, 472 (6th Cir. 2012) ("[T]he Supreme Court has very recently made
abundantly clear that the reviaywanted by the AEDPA is evenore constricted than AEDPA's
plain language already suggests.") (cititayrington, 131 S. Ct. at 786).

In view of the high bar under the standaet by the AEDPA which a petitioner must
surmount, the Court finds Wilson has not bornie burden of showing the state court

unreasonably applied the controlling Supre@eurt precedent on constitutional notice or
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unreasonably determined the facts in finding naitnte Petitioner's chaénge to his bill of
particulars. No writ will issue.
V. Conclusion

Based on the above legal principles aedsoning, the Court finds none of Petitioner’'s
claims warrant issuance of the waihd, therefore, by separate order, \MENY this § 2254
application and wilDISMISS this petition.

VI. Certificate of Appealability

Finally, the Court must consider whetherissue a certificate of appealability (COA)
should Petitioner file a notice @ppeal. Under 28 U.S.C. § 228B@nd (c), a petitioner may
appeal a final order in a § 2255 eamly if he is issued a COA, and a COA will be issued only
where the applicant has made a substantial islgoaf the denial of a constitutional rightee28
U.S.C. 8§ 2253(c) (2). A petitionsvhose claims have been rejected on a procedural basis must
demonstrate reasonable juristeuld debate the correctnesstbeé Court’'s procedural ruling.
Slack v. McDaniel529 U.S. 473, 484 (2000porterfield v. Bell 258 F.3d 484, 485-86 (6th Cir.
2001). Where claims have been dismissed @ir ttmerits, a petitioner must show reasonable
jurists would find the assessment of the constitutional claims debatable or Videaglacks29
U.S. at 484.

After having reviewed each claim individuabyd in view of the firm procedural basis
and the upon which is based the dismissal dhgeclaims and the law upon which is based the
dismissal on the merits of the rest of thaimls, reasonable jurorsowld neither debate the
correctness of the Court’'s procedural mgb or its assessment of the claimsl. Because
Petitioner has failed to make a substantial showing of the denial of a constitutional right, a COA

will not issue.
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A separate judgment will enter.

ENTER:

CURTIS L. COLLIER
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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